


































































































398 Robert Dewar

dale, one of the three signatories, played a part not wvery
creditable ;1 and his revision of Burnet may have removed
details, if he is not the prime cause of the curtailment of the
MS. The Engagement Campaign is a favourable specimen of
Burnet’s employment of hearsay. Turner apparently contributed
what he afterwards embodied in his Memoirs ; but Lieutenant-
General Drummond and Dachmont supplied details, which were
accepted as corrections of Turner® Much of this personal
information may be quite correct; but the most important
pieces were contributed by Lauderdale; a few, only less import-
ant, by Charles II. Both had a main finger in encouraging
Burnet’s abuse of actual documents; when they volunteer to
supplement those documents or to explain away difficulties, their
infg)rmation cannot be accepted unconfirmed.

But suppression was unavoidable with Burnet’s object in view.
To eulogise Charles, and to couple Hamilton as far as possible
in the same eulogy—these aims controlled the composition of
these Memoirs.® The picture of Charles here painted should be
compared with the estimate in the History of my own Timest
Neither Charles nor Hamilton is a fit subject for eulogy. Burnet,
in the MS. preface, has deleted the following confession : ¢ Neither
shall I tell how soon it [the Memoirs] was finished, nor with what
caution it was considered, what things concerning those times
were fit to be published, or what were to be suppressed.’s It
cannot have been because he altered the texture of his book, the
chief value of which must always lie in the documents there
printed. Otherwhere it is a one-sided and frequently distorted
source for the events it describes.

RoBerT Drwar.

1 He agreed to cede the Northern Counties to Scotland, v. O.T. i. 59.

2 Cf. Turner’s Memoirs, and Burnet’s letters (18th and 22nd Aug. 1673),
App. ii. 249 and 251.

8 Memoirs, pp. 379, and [iv.]. $O.T. i 532. §MS. 9.
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In 1333 David’s successor, John, bishop of Murray, declared
that the treasurer, in relinquishing all nghts to the domaine
of Grisy, had acted unwisely and without the sanction of his
superiors. The directors of the Collégge du Cardinal Lemoine,
justly indi‘gar::xt at such ingratitude, retorted that the revenue
from the was utterly inadequate to support four scholars,
the said revenue only amounting to fifty livres per annum.

On 8th July, 1333, the college agreed to restore the farm
to the treasurer, and dismissed the scholars, who now found
themselves without a roof-tree.

John, bishop of Murray, having reimbursed the college for
the sums lent to his predecessor, the farm of La Fermeté
became the property of Scotland.

Until the latter half of the sixteenth century, the bishops of
Murray, in their position as administrators of the fund, had
the right to elect the bursars; but in 1573, at the death of
Patrick Hepburn, last incumbent of the bishopric in Scotland,
the bishops of Paris assumed this right, and henceforth elected
the scholars.

For nearly three centuries the bursars, now deprived of the
kindly shelter afforded to them by the College du Cardinal
Lemoine, lodged hither and thither as best suited their modest
means. In vain the ‘boursiers de Grisy,” as they termed them-
selves, petitioned the authorities at home to grant them some
fixed official residence in the French capital. But the Catholic
Church in Scotland, already entering on a period of trouble
and disaster, was in no state to attend to their humble plaints.

In 1566 the principal, Thomas Winterhop, wrote to Queen
Marie Stuart begging her to augment their allowance, that more
scholars might, profiting by a sojourn in Paris, benefit the
Catholic faith at home. The Queen promised to do all that
lay in her power to help the neglected bursars, and faithfully
did she keep her promise. Throughout her own bitter trials
and unjustifiable imprisonment she did not forget the poor
scholars in her beloved France. Not only did she pension
annually a certain number of youths, but in her will she left
of her humble fortune what she could for their benefit.

Another enthusiastic advocate for the Scottish students was
James Beatoun, or Bethune, archbishop of Glasgow and
ambassador at the court of France. In 1569, together with
Thomas Winterhop, he founded a college for Scottish students
in Paris, and bequeathed in his will various monies, and a
























408 Violette M. Montagu

a report made by Monseigneur Lercari to the Prefect of the
Propaganda, that religious dissensions, caused by the success of
Jansenism among the students, induced many to abandon the
priestly calling and to enter the army. Indeed, from 1737
to 1764 no priests were ordained from the college.

A decree having been made, September 7th, 1762, by which
all the smaller university colleges were united into one large
one, that of Louis-le-Grand, the Scottish scholars loudly
protested, declaring that they, as foreigners and bursars, not
ordinary scholars, could not be touched by such a decree. So
well did they plead their cause that they succeeded in keeping
their independence.

In the beginning of the French Revolution it seemed for a
while as if the college would escape molestation. A law passed
by the Assemblée %\Iationale, November 7th, 1790, ordained
that all religious institutions and educational establishments
founded in France by foreigners should continue to enjoy all
former rights and liberties. The following year Dr. Geddes,
vicar apostolic, came to Paris to look after the college interests.
He found it, indeed, in a pitiable condition, one student, one
priest, and the principal, the abbé Gordon, being the sole
inhabitants of what was once a flourishing institution. Dr.
Walsh, of the Lombard College, received Dr. Geddes, and
together they endeavoured to put new life into the old college.
But the decree of August 18th, 1792, and the law of August
joth, ordering the closing of all secular establishments and
the sale and sequestration of all property owned in France by
foreign communities, completely destroyed all hopes of success.

The College Committee did not allow their college to be
confiscated without protesting, affirming that their establishment
was only the foreign branch of a home community. The Con-
vention recognized their rights, and decreed, February 14th,
1793, that the law of August 3oth, 1792, did not touch
their college, and that they might continue to occupy it until
further notice.

The decree of March 8th ordering the sale of all property
belonging to the French colleges and religious institutions,
excepted those establishments still provisionally governed by
their former administrators abroad. Two months later a decree
was passed, May g9th and 11th, 1793, followed by the laws
of the 19th Vendémiaire and 13th Pluvibse, second year of
the Republic (October r1oth, 1793, and July 1st, 1794),
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the magnificent black oak staircase reaching to the top storey.
Some of the glass doors are decorated with Saint-Andrew’s
Cross, and the handsome bronze door-handles, also bearing the
cross and initials, are well worth attention. By the courtesy of
the director of the institution, strangers are permitted to wvisit
the chapel, which, though much altered, must alwazs be interest-
ing to lovers of Scottish history. Nearly one half of the chapel
has been partitioned off to serve as a museum of physics and
entomology, leaving but one bay and the choir to serve as chapel
Over the altar is a large picture representing the martyrdom of
Saint-Andrew.

A full-length portrait of James III. is to be seen in the
principal’s study ; it represents the Pretender in armour.

In the museum the fine oak furniture carved with thistles and
the cross and initials of Saint Andrew should be examined.

On one of the northern pillars in the chapel is a black marble
slab, arched at the top, surmounted by the armorial bearings® ot
David and Bethune, with the following inscription :

D. O. M. Anno Dom. mcccxxv. Regnante in Gallia Carolo Pulchro et Roberto
de Bruce Regnante in Scotia, antiquo feedere conjunctis David de Moravis,
Episcopus Moraviensis in Scotia hoc Collegium fundavit: A° Dai mpcun
Iacobus de Bethun Archiepiscopus Glasguensis in Scotia, novam Fundationem
instituit, Preeposito in perpetuum administrationi Ven. P. Domno Priore-Cartusiz
Parisiensis, A° D= Mpcxxxix., conjunctio utrius que Fundationis in unum et
idem Collegium ab Archiepiscopo Parisiensi facta, auctoritate Regis et Supremi
Senatus Parisiensis sancita est. Vtrjusque fundatoris Memoriz Primarius, Pro-
curator et Alumni Hujus Collegij P. P. Requiescant in pace.

This tablet measures 31} inches by 174.

Unfortunately, many of the tablets and tombs have dis-
appeared ; however, the Collectanca topographica et gemealogica
(volume vii. page 34) gives a plan representing the different
positions occupied by the monumental tablets, and with the help
of this plan it is easy to imagine the chapel as it was in its
original state.

One of the college statutes contained a clause that a yearly
mass was to be said for the repose of the souls of David, bishop
of Murray, and James Bethune : ¢ Singulis annis, omnes magistri

1 The archbishop of Glasgow’s escutcheon, with the motto : ¢Ferendum
vincas,” bears a chevron with three estoiles : James Bethune’s shield is quartered
argent with fesse gules, together with three muscles argent, and chevron or
sable, with an otter’s head argent; beneath the shield is a dolphin bearing a
round fruit in its mouth. The escutcheons are further ornamented with the
archbishop’s hat, mitre, cross, and crosier.
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et alumni hujus collegii interesse tenentur togati sacro cele-
brando die nono januarii in capella collegii pro primo fundatore,
Davide de Moravia, episcopo moraviensi, et apud Sanctum
Joannem Lateranensem, die vigesima quarta aprilis, sacro cele-
brando cellegii expensis pro secundo fundatore Jacobo de Bethun,
archiepiscopo Glasguensi, et utroque die lautius prandium eis
conceditur.’?

In the centre of the second bay of the nave was a flat stone
tomb, bearing the following epitaph engraved on a large oval
slab, the top ornamented with palms encircling the initials R.B.,
and supported by a cenotaph decorated with mouldings, under
which was a winged skull crowned with laurel leaves placed
between two flaming urns:

Hic jacet falicis memoriz sacerdos, Robertus Barclaius, ex nobili familia apud
Scotos, hujus quondam collegii gymnasiarcha dignissimus et de patria sua optime
meritus. Illi ingenium perspicax, judicium accuratum, mores casti, fides eo
ferventior quo rarior inter suos, totaque vita ad amussim Evangelii castigatissima.
Collegium olim prope Grassinaum situm huc, in locum magis commodum trans-
tulit, domunque et zdem sacram extruendas curavit, disciplinam pene collapsam
restituit, tandemque, collegio hzrede instituto, obiit vi idus februarii, anno
Domini M.p.cLxxxn, tatis suz circiter 1xx, regiminis xxx. Requiescat in

pace.

To the right of this tomb was buried the heart of Lewis Innes,
under a rectangular slab of white marble, which bore the follow-
ing inscription in a heart-shaped frame ornamented with a skull
crowned with laurel and cross-bones :

Hic situm est cor domini Ludovici Innese, presbyteri, Reginz matri Magn=
Britanniz, dein Jacobo III. Regi eleemosynarii, hujus collegii primarii et bene-
factoris insignis Obiit die 1 februarii Anno Domini M.p.coxxviin.  ZEtatis
Lxxxvit. Requiescat in pace.

In the part of the chapel now used as a museum we find all
that still remains of the monument erected to the memory of
James I1. by his faithful and devoted servitor, James Drummond,
Duke of Perth. A print of this monument, as designed by
Louis Garnier, exists in the Collection Clairambault. Before the
re-arrangement of the chapel, it was on the right hand side of
the nave in the third bay, exactly facing the chapel door. This
monument, even now by far the most important in the building,
was composed of a large grey marble pedestal, supporting a black
marble sarcophagus, on the top of which was a small obelisk
standing on another pedestal on which was a little vase;

1 Bibliothéque Mazarine, Ms. 3322, p. 14.
2E
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a small rectangular black marble tablet in a frame of Languedoc
marble adorned with volutes and mouldings, and supporting
an arched fronton. between two urns painted to imitate bronze;
this tablet was erected to the memory of the famous beauty,
Frances Jennings, duchess of Tyrconnell.

D. O. M. Aternz memoriz illustrissimz et nobilissime domina Franciscze
Jennings ducissz de Tyrconnell, Reginz Magnz Britanniz matronz honorariz
hujus collegii benefactricis quz missam quotidianam in hoc sacrario fundavit
perpetuo celebrandam pro anima sua et animabus domini Georgii Hamilton
de Abercorne, equitis aurati, conjugis sui primi, et domini Richardi Talbot,
ducis de Tyrconnell, proregis Hyberniz, secundi sui conjugis. Obiit die xvn
martii, anno Domini M.p.ccxxx1. Requiescat in pace.

Close to the former monument, slightly to the right hand
side, was a small black marble slab bearing a cross at the top
and at the bottom a laurel-crowned skull lying on flaming
torches and cross-bones, commemorating 1675.

We close the list with one which, though it does not directly
concern the Scottish College, still bears on its role of honour
a name often mentioned in the earlier part of our article. The
tablet, erected to the memory of eight brave ex-scholars of
the Institution Chevallier who fell in the Franco-German war,
begins with the name :

Ed: Paul de Bethune, Fernand Bourgeois, Marie-Aimé Delargilliére, Marie-
Emile Courcier, Paul Desmolins, Leon Gugenheim, Paul Lebceuf, Charles
Rouillard. “Quos neque lugeri neque plangi fas est admiratione potius et simil-
tudine decoremus.” 1871,

Viowerre M. MonNTacv.
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part of the works of Aristotle, printed at Paris by W. Hopyl
in 1501, in the University Library, St. Andrews, is a
contemporary stamped binding almost certainly Scottish. The
sides and back of the book are ornamented with small rough
tools, while in the centre of each side is a small panel, about
3% by 2% inches, depicting the Crucifixion, with two women
standing at the foot of the cross. The work is much simpler
in style than is usual in such panels and the lines of the
drapery are well designed and deeply cut. There is not,
unfortunately, any binder’s name or mark, but the similarity
of the colour and texture of the leather, and of the shapes
and designs of the small tools to what we find in other
Scottish bindings, as well as the language and writing of the
manuscript used to line the boards, all point to this being
a genuine example of a native panel-stamped binding.

An interesting series of bindings, some perhaps of Scottish
work, are preserved in the library of the Athenacum Club,
Liverpool. They are on a number of large legal folios, some
containing two or even three volumes bound together. Their
history is interesting, for they formed part of the loot carried
off from Edinburgh after the capture of the city by the
English in 15§43. In most of the volumes is the followin
inscription : ¢ M? y* Edynborow was wone ye viii* daye 05‘
maye in afio xxxvj. H. viii. et afio diii M°ccceeoxliij® and
y' y* Boke de decretales maximi was gottj and brougth awaye
from Edynborro forsaide by me Willm Norres of ye speike
knygth ye xj daye of maye in afio sup'dit & now is ye Boke
of me ye fouresaid sir Willm geué and left by me for a
nayreloume to remayne at speike in wittenes of ye same
have wretj ye same w' my none honde & subsc’bed my
name. p» me Willm Norres milit.’

What induced the worthy knight to loot immense volumes
of Panormitanus on the Decretals and Bartolus on the Digests is a
matter for wonder.

A number of the volumes belonged originally to Patrick
Paniter, Abbot of Cambuskenneth. They bear the inscription,
¢ Liber magistri patricii paniter secretarii regii, oratoris lepi-
dissimi,” which he could hardly have written himself. The
volumes are generally reputed to have been taken from
Holyrood, but as a Bible belonging to Alexander Mylne,
Abbot of Cambuskenneth, to be noticed later, was part of the
plunder, it would rather seem as though they were taken
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There must have been plenty of binders in Edinburgh at
this time. William Bonkill received in 1501 the sum of
£6. 13s. 4d. for binding twenty-five volumes for the royal
library. David Traill is also several times mentioned in the
Lord High Treasurer’s accounts as binding books for the
king. At that time all stationers appear to have been book-
binders as well, and it is clear from several of the documents
relating to the introduction and practice of the art of
printing in Scotland that they were at that time numerous.

In Scotland the custom of putting marks of ownership on
bindings began at a very early date. The earliest example
which I have yet seen 1s on a book in my own collection,
a copy of the Institutes of Justinian printed at Venice by John
Hertzog in 1494. The binding, which is contemporary, is of
brown calf, apparently of English or Scottish work, and at
the top of the obverse cover is the impression of a stamp
with the name in Gothic letter ¢ Auchinleck.” The background
to the lettering has originally been decorated with water
gilding, now almost disappeared. The stamp is certainly
almost as old as the binding, and 1 am inclined to consider
it as the ownership mark of the old family of Auchinleck
of Auchinleck, who were the owners of the property before
it came into the hands of the Boswells in 1504.

The earliest dated Scottish binding which I have seen was
originally in the library of Alexander Mylne, Abbot of
Cambuskenneth. He was the son of John Mylne, master-
mason to the crown of Scotland, and was educated at St
Andrews, where he graduated in 1494. In 1§17 he was
appointed Abbot of Cambuskenneth and also master-mason
to James V. In 1532 the king instituted the Court of Session
as the central and supreme civil court for Scotland, and it was
arranged that the president should be an ecclesiastic. Mylne
presided over this court until his death in 1§48, and was
succeeded on February 24, 1549, by Robert Reid, bishop of
Orkney. Mylne was a man of very great ability who did
much to cncourafgc learning, especially in theology, and he
was the author of a history of the bishops of Dunkeld.

The book from his library is a copy of the Latin Bible
printed by Stephanus at Paris in 1532. It is bound in dark
calf, but has been rebacked. The binding is very plain, a
centre panel formed by a narrow roll, with a small gilt
ornament at each corner. Down the centre of the two sides
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on a copy of Paradin’s Chronique de Savoye, is of plain calf
with a panel made by a blind-tooled roll. Her arms are in
the centre, and the crowned M occurs on the sides and back.
The Prlemy of 1490, mentioned in the inventory of 1569,
is now in the British Museum. This beautiful book is in
olive morocco, richly decorated, with the combined monogram
of Francis II. and Mary. A special monograph on this binding
with a facsimile was issued by the Bibliographical Society in
1901. An undoubted Scottish specimen o}) her binding is
preserved in the British Museum. It is on a copy of the
¢Black Acts,’ printed at Edinburgh by Robert Lekprevik in
1566, and is of dark brown calf. Each side has a deep, richly
gilt border enclosing the arms of the Queen. These have
een at one time coloured, the arms in red, the unicorn
supporters in white, but the paint has been mostly rubbed
away. Below the shield hangs the order of St. Andrew, and
above all, on a ribbon, the motto ¢In defens.” At the sides,
on small ribbons, are the words ¢ Maria Regina.” The design
is an exact copy of the woodcut on the title page, which was
first used by Thomas Davidson in his edition of the New
dcris of 1540.

Another collector whose bindings show evidence of great
taste was Mary’s brother, James Stewart, but, as with Mary’s,
the majority were probably executed in France. The sides
have generally the Lion of Scotland stamped in the centre
of the sides, surrounded by a wreath of most delicate design.
The name Jacobus Steward is also stamped on the sides, with
the letters below c.p.s. (custos privati sigilli), accompanied
by the motto saLvs PER XPM, or in some cases IN SPE CONTRA
sPEM, with the initials LS.

James VI. was a liberal patron of bookbinders, and in July,
1581, appointed John Gibson as Royal bookbinder with a
yearly salary of f£20 Scots. A bill for binding books for the
king sent in by Gibson in October, 1580, affords some clue
to style and prices. Octavos, ‘gilt, presumably bound in
calf, cost ten shillings, and the cheapest as well as most
frequently used binding was parchment, which cost for an
octavo three shillings. Vellum was a favourite binding, a
fashion probably introduced from Holland. The few specimens
that remain from the library of William Ramsay show that
he was a lover of fine bindings. He was the principal of
St. Salvator’s College in St. Andrews from 1566 to 1570,
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be examined. In the case of old collections, whether public
or private, it often happens that accounts of payments for
binding have been preserved, and by their means the work
of individual binders can be determined. In this manner
Mr. Gibson was able to identify the work of all the binders
employed by the Bodleian from its foundation, and allocate
their work at a glance.

The last years of the seventeenth century saw an entire
change come over Scottish binding, and when the Act of
Union was passed there was firmly established in Scotland
one of the most distinctive schools of binding that has ever
existed. Crude perhaps in design and often careless in detail,
the general effect is very rich. The leather used was excellent
both in texture and colour, and the gilding well applied.
There was perhaps too much gilding, but this was a natural
reaction from earlier severity, and the result is effective.
This work, however, is beyond the scope of the present
article.

E. Gorbon Durr.









PLAN OF THE ROMAN MILITARY STATION AT NEWSTEAD.
By Mr. Thomas Ross, Architect.
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been filled in with river stones to allow the road to pass
over them. In the large inner ditch nine feet of black silt lay
below the cobbles. It was clear from this that at an earlier
period the ditch at this point must have been open, and that
it must either have been crossed by a drawbridge, or there
existed elsewhere another entrance in substitution for which
the road had been formed by filling up the ditch. As two
occupations had evidently used the Via Principalis, and con-
sequently crossed the ditches at this point, this earlier entrance,
if it existed, must have marked an occupation intervening
between the earliest with its clavicular gateways, and the two
later occupations, an occupation in which the great strenfthening
of the de&nc&s had taken place, and in which the road doubtless
passed out on solid ground. Careful search revealed no trace
of a drawbridge, but an examination of the ground at the south
end of the Via Quintana brought to light the heavy bottoming
of a road crossing the early ditch and passing beneath the
rampart, but which disappeared above the later ditches. Here
then was the position of the earlier gateway we were in search
of. It was indeed natural that it should be so, as the main
road from the south in the earliest occupation had entered
almost at this point. The disappearance of the road over the
later ditches proved that with the formation of the gate at
the end of the Via Principalis this gate had been closed and
the ditches carried through the roadway. The position of the
earlier gate was further confirmed by the examination of the
double ditches surrounding the annex to the south. Here
the road from the Via Quintana passed out on solid ground,
the ditches stopping on either side, while the road from the
Via Principalis was carried over ditches which had been filled
up with river stones. It was thus apparent that after the
abandonment of the earliest fort there came a second
occupation in which the Via Principalis ran on the line of
the later Quintana.

The general plan of 2 Roman fort was laid out on certain
well-recognized lines. In every rectangular fort of the type
of Newstead there were at least four gates, one on each side.
The position of these gates governed the position of the buildin%s
in the interior. The Praetorium was placed as near as possible
to the centre. It stood midway between two of the gates,
facing one of them. The road traversing the fort between the

two remaining gates passed in front of it. An exception to
26
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blocks of river stone embedded in clay, above them inferior
masonry, in which lay a broken Andernach quern stone, bricks,
and other old material. It was interesting to compare this
with the remains of the south buttressed building, in which,
although the foundations were the same, the superstructure
was of well-built hammer-dressed sandstone. No doubt the
size of these storehouse buildings was proportionate to the
extent of the fort. It is probable that both were erected in
the second occupation, but that with the restriction of area
of the third occupation the northern building was dismantled,
to be again rebuilt when the size of the fort was once more
increased. The retention of the south building is easy to
understand, it would lie nearer to cultivated ground, for we
may assume on the fertile slopes to the south patches of corn
in the clearings, and to the highway that linked the garrison
to civilization and to Rome.

The several phases of occupation at Newstead would thus
appear to have been—Firss, a fort with an earthen rampart,
probably strengthened by a palisade defended by a single ditch,
except along the west front, where the ditches were doubled.
Second, an occupation characterised by a slight increase of area
and greatly increased strength, fortified by a rampart and triple
ditches. Whether a wall formed part of the defence in this
occupation is uncertain. Third, an occupation marked by a
restriction of the size of the fort and the construction of the
wall parallel to the Via Quintana. And Fourth, a return to the
area of the second occupation, in which the fort was sur-
rounded by a rampart faced with a wall seven feet six inches
thick, and triple ditches.

To the west of the fort lies a fortified annex, which has been
partly investigated. It would be unwise to draw definite con-
clusions from the amount of work that has so far been done
upon it. There are, however, indications that it may confirm
the results obtained in the main area. Its ditches appear to
have no connection with the ditches of the first occupation of
the fort, but its single block of buildings would appear to show
evidence of different periods of occupation. In the first of
these the building was of great size, about 300 feet in length.
At a subsequent period the annex was very materially reduced
in extent, a ditch cutting the building in two, and a structure
appears to have been raised over the portion nearest the fort,
thus corresponding with the restriction of the third occupation.
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appears to be a design from La Graufesenque. Most of the
remaining decorated fragments can be identified as emanating
from the same pottery, and among the undecorated pottery,
both of Samian and coarser wares, there are types which are
to be met with in the early fort of Hofheim near Wiesbaden,
the abandonment of which has been fixed about the year
A.D. 60. I have not found any pottery which appears to belong
to Lezoux, and it therefore seems probable that the undecorated
Samian came from La Graufesenque. These facts would point
to the abandonment of the ditch before the end of the first
century. It is interesting to note as bearing upon the line of
Agricola’s route to the north that the collection of Samian
ware obtained in the excavation of Birrens contains no early
pieces. On the other hand, the early types were common at
Camelon with later pottery. Both early and late occur at
Ardoch, while the few fragments found at Inchtuthill, both of
Samian and coarser ware, appear to belong without exception
to the period of the first occupation of Newstead.

That the latest occupation cannot have been prolonged much
beyond the end of the second century may be inferred from
the series of coins found. These number about one hundred
and fifty, and have been picked up, not in hoards, be it noted,
but scattered up and down over the fort. The earliest coin
is a denarius of Rome of the year 132 B.c. Next comes a
coin of the Vibian family of 43 B.c., followed by a number
of the legionary denarii of Mark Antony. The Imperial series
begins with a single coin of Augustus, while from Nero to
Marcus Aurelius the succession is almost complete, the earlier
coins preponderating. The latest coin found is a denarius of
Crispina, the wife of Commodus, 180-192 A.D.

James Curcz.








